ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JAN 13 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from York County

John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

HARRY ANTHONY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-206627

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial judge should have granted a motion for a mistrial after the State elicited an inadmissible prior bad act from its first witness?

2.

Whether the trial judge should have granted a motion for recusal as a sanction in response to judge shopping by the State?

3.

Whether appellant is entitled to a judicial determination on whether he should receive credit for time served while on house arrest?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 12, 2007, a York County grand jury indicted Harry Anthony for four counts of distribution of cocaine base (crack). R. 297. These indictments alleged conduct that was over two years old. R. 297-304. In November 2007, Anthony filed a motion requesting that the Honorable John C. Hayes, III recuse himself from the case. R. 257. On November 29, 2007, Judge Hayes held a hearing on this issue. R. 215. Anthony was represented by Melvin Roberts and Mindy Hervey Lipinski represented the State. R. 215. Judge Hayes denied the motion from the bench and on December 4, 2007, issued a written order. R. 288. R. p 215, ll. 14 – 23; R.288.

Anthony immediately appealed Judge Hayes' order and it was dismissed as interlocutory. R. 255. On March 25, 2008, Anthony's petition for rehearing was denied. R. 238. Anthony's petition for writ of certiorari was denied by the South Carolina Supreme Court on October 8, 2008. R. 294. The Court of Appeals issued the remittitur on October 13, 2008. R. 296.

On January 9, 2012, Anthony was tried before Judge Hayes and a jury. R. 1. Anthony's former counsel, Melvin Roberts, was tragically murdered and B.J. Barrowclough and Harry Dest represented Anthony at trial. R. 1. Mindy Hervey Lipinski and Chris Epting represented the State. R. 1. The jury convicted Anthony on all four counts. R. 208, l. 18 – 209, l. 9. Judge Hayes sentenced Anthony to concurrent terms of fifteen years' imprisonment. R. 213, ll. 3 – 4. On January 13, 2012, Anthony filed and served a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Harry Anthony (“Anthony”) was tried in 2012 for conduct the State alleged occurred in 2005. R. 68, ll. 9 – 12. The State wanted to charge Anthony in their investigation of the death of a woman named Margaret Matthews (“Matthews”). R. 68, ll. 9 – 15. The State sent evidence related to that investigation to Quantico, Virginia and once the analysis of this evidence was made, the State concluded they did not have sufficient evidence to charge Anthony with any crime related to Matthews’ death. R. 68, ll. 9 – 20.

Unsatisfied with this result, the State then decided to try Anthony for possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine. R. 68, ll. 20 – 22. They charged Anthony with being a crack dealer despite the fact that during several searches, police never found any drugs, drug residue, baggies, customer lists, cell phone records indicative of drug dealing, computer records indicative of drug dealing, scales, and never made an attempt to buy drugs with a confidential informant. R. 93, l. 22 – 96, l. 22. The searches were executed in 2006. R. 92, ll. 15 – 19. Anthony was not indicted until April 12, 2007. R.297-304. Anthony spent the next five years on house arrest awaiting trial. R. 212, ll. 9 – 11.

The evidence used against Anthony on the crack charges came from Patricia Littlejohn (“Littlejohn”). R. 73, ll. 17 – 23. The police admitted that Littlejohn had an extreme addiction to crack cocaine. R. 74, ll. 19 – 22. Littlejohn had prior convictions for obtaining goods by false pretenses and shoplifting. R. 118, l. 18 – 119, l. 11. When asked by the solicitor whether she had a pending charge for forgery, Littlejohn replied, “That’s because I’m a witness in another case, yes.” R. 119, ll. 9 – 11. Littlejohn denied the solicitor had promised her anything regarding the outcome of the forgery charge in exchange for her testimony against Anthony. R. 119, ll. 12 – 15. However, on cross-

examination when the defense attorney asked her about the pending forgery charge, Littlejohn replied, "Pending, as a witness." R. 123, ll. 24 – 25. The defense lawyer asked:

Q. Pending, as a defendant?

A. No.

Q. Right now you have a charge of forgery against you.

A. I know.

Q. Being prosecuted –

A. But that ain't got –

Q. – by this prosecutor's office?

A. – nothing to do with this case.

Q. Excuse me?

A. It ain't got nothing to do with this case.

Q. Well I'm asking you, do you have a charge of forgery pending against you?

A. I have a charge pending, yes.

Q. In which you're the defendant?

A. Excuse me?

Q. I said, in which you are the defendant.

A. I assume, yes.

Q. Being prosecuted by this Solicitor's Office.

A. I don't know who's prosecuting me. All's I know is I got to be here.

R. 124, ll. 1 – 20. When asked again about her pending forgery charge on redirect, Littlejohn stated, "Yeah, they just took me uptown and booked me because I'm a witness to that case." R. 125, l. 25 – 126, l. 4.

Even though Littlejohn admitted smoking crack and trading sex and money for crack, she was never charged with distribution of crack, possession of crack, prostitution, or anything else in conjunction with this case. R. 100, ll. 10 – 19. The police never attempted to search Littlejohn’s residence for crack. R. 98, ll. 8 – 12. When asked if they could have pursued a search warrant for Littlejohn’s residence, the police witness responded, “If that was the target of my investigation, yes.” R. 98, ll. 18 – 20.

Littlejohn allegedly told the police that she would trade Anthony sexual favors for crack cocaine. R. 76, ll. 7 – 13. She also told the police that Anthony videotaped their sexual encounters. R. 76, ll. 7 – 13. The police searched Anthony’s house in seized numerous videotapes. R. 78, l. 21 – 79, l. 3. The State moved six DVDs into evidence that they culled from the videotapes seized from Anthony’s house. R. 88, ll. 6 – 12; (State’s Exhibits 1 – 6.).

The DVDs shown at trial depict Littlejohn and Anthony engaged in a wide variety of sexual activities. (State’s Exhibits 1 – 6.)<sup>1</sup> At no point in the videos do the encounters appear to be anything but consensual. (State’s Exhibits 1 – 6.); R. 183, ll. 10 – 21. There is no mention in any of the videos of an exchange of sex for crack. (State’s Exhibits 1 – 6); R. 183 ll. 5 – 7. The videos do show Anthony and Littlejohn smoking something which Littlejohn claimed in her testimony was crack solely provided by Anthony, but the videos do not show who brought the substance to the encounter. (State’s Exhibits 1 – 6.); R. 183, ll. 16 – 21. R.116, ll. 6 – 118, l. 10. Acknowledging this reality, the solicitor told the jury in her closing “all [that] is required for distribution is sharing, a transfer of ownership, a giving of one thing the crack cocaine to another. It does not have to be an exchange for money. It

---

<sup>1</sup> State’s Exhibits 1-6 have been transported to the Court.

does not have to be an exchange for sex. There is no quid pro quo. It can be a gift.” R.158, ll. 11 – 15. Obviously concerned about this issue, during deliberations the jury asked again to be charged on the definition of “distribution.” R. 226, l. 24 – 228, l. 7. After the trial judge’s re-charge, the jury returned a little over an hour later with verdicts of guilty. R.207, ll. 13 – 14.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The trial judge should have granted a motion for a mistrial after the State elicited an inadmissible prior bad act from its first witness.

Prior to trial, the court discussed the defense's motions with the parties. R. 12, ll. 8 – 10. The trial judge asked the State about “prior bad acts or Lyle evidence.” R. 12, ll. 8 – 10. The State agreed that it would not elicit testimony from its witnesses regarding an alleged prior bad act by Anthony. R. 13, ll. 2 – 15. Littlejohn allegedly told the police that Anthony like to brand his prostitutes with a wire and “put an ‘H’ or an ‘A’ on some part of their body.” R. 13, ll. 2 – 15. The solicitor told the court, “I do not intend to [elicit] that testimony on direct.” R. 13, ll. 8 – 9. Defense counsel told the court that the solicitor's representation “covered prior topics that my motion was addressing.” R. 13, l. 17 – 19. After a Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), hearing, the State again told the court that it did not “anticipate going as to the branding of Miss Littlejohn.” R. 36, ll. 23 – 24. On both of these occasions, the solicitor told the court that this agreement was dependent on whether the defense opened the door to this testimony on cross-examination. R. 13, ll. 8 – 10. R. 36, l. 24 – 37, l. 1.

The State's first witness was Lieutenant Tim Hager. R. 72, ll. 3 – 12. Lieutenant Hager had been employed by the York County Sheriff's Office for thirty-two years. R. 72, ll. 21 – 23. Lieutenant Hager was in the courtroom during the court's discussion of the branding issue. R. 104, ll. 16 – 19. On direct examination, the following occurred:

Q. And when Ms. Littlejohn told you about going to Mr. Anthony as one of her potential sources, did she indicate to you anything unusual based on your experience and training about the nature of their transactions?

A. She was trading sexual favors for crack cocaine, and also he was videotaping these encounters, and also he was branding her with a –

MR. BARROWCLOUGH: Your Honor, I object on a matter of law.

THE COURT: Just –

MS. LIPINSKI: I'll move on, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay, just move on.

Q. And did she –

THE COURT: Disregard that last statement from the witness, members of the jury.

R. 76, ll. 7 – 21. At the next break when Lieutenant Hager left the stand, Anthony moved for a mistrial. R. 104, l. 5 – 105, l. 5. Anthony argued that Lieutenant Hager, since he was in the courtroom during the discussions on branding, intentionally injected the issue into the trial. R. 104, ll. 6 – 105, l. 5. Trial counsel noted the officer's experience and that he was a sophisticated witness. R. 104, ll. 16 – 21. Trial counsel argued that a mistrial was required because the State intentionally placed the defendant's character in evidence.

Amazingly, the State agreed that Hager intentionally testified about the branding. The solicitor stated, "I don't believe it was any inadvertence or misstep on the part of Mr. Hager." R. 105, ll. 9 – 10. The solicitor said, "Why we agreed that we would try to avoid that, I also stated that it would nonetheless become – may nonetheless become part of this. **Obviously the defendant's character is an issue by the very admission of these tapes.** So to suggest that we have put his character at issue when it was otherwise not an issue, I

think is a misstep.”<sup>2</sup> R. 105, ll. 10 – 16 (emphasis added). The trial judge denied the motion for a mistrial. R. 107, ll. 13 – 16.

The trial court erred in not granting a mistrial because the State admittedly elicited inadmissible character evidence from its first witness, a thirty-two year police veteran. Character evidence is not admissible. SCRE 404(a). The branding would not be admissible under any of the exceptions of Rule 404(b). SCRE 404(b). The trial judge ordered it stricken from the record; therefore, the only question before the Court was whether the State’s conduct and the prejudicial impact of hearing that Anthony branded Littlejohn was sufficiently severe to warrant a mistrial.

In State v. Parker, 391 S.C. 606, 609, 707 S.E.2d 799, 800 (2011), the trial court granted a mistrial in part based on the solicitor’s playing of an unredacted videotape containing graphic evidence. Id. The parties previously agreed to redact the videotape, but claiming “inadvertence,” the solicitor played the unredacted version for the jury.<sup>3</sup> Id. Whether the prosecution intentionally elicits inadmissible evidence is a factor the Court considers in determining whether to grant a mistrial. State v. Ferguson, 376 S.C. 615, 619, 658 S.E.2d 101, 103 (2008). Here, the solicitor admitted that Lieutenant Hager intentionally mentioned branding.

---

<sup>2</sup> This claim was somewhat disingenuous when, minutes earlier, the Solicitor told the jury in her opening, “I don’t want you to convict Mr. Anthony based on your personal appeal or revulsion to these videos.” R. 56, ll. 3 – 5. In her closing, the Solicitor again told the jury, “I also told you that the State is not asking you to convict the defendant based on some emotional and gut reaction to these videos. We didn’t show them to you because of their shock value.” R. 154, l. 24 – 155, l. 2.

<sup>3</sup> The solicitor who caused the mistrial in Parker is the same solicitor who elicited the testimony about branding from Lieutenant Hager in this case.

In State v. Ross, 272 S.C. 249 S.E.2d 159 (1978), the defendant asked for a mistrial after the prosecutor elicited character evidence. The Court reversed and granted the defendant a new trial, stating that “the testimony elicited had the effect of placing the bad character of the defendant in issue when she herself had not placed her good character in issue.” Id. at 60, 249 S.E.2d at 161. Similarly, despite its earlier promise not to do so, the State intentionally placed Anthony’s character at issue. The allegation about branding made Littlejohn a more sympathetic witness. The State argued that the distribution of crack in this case was worse than a typical transaction because of “how low crack cocaine can drag members of the community.” R. 154, ll. 18 – 19. The branding allegation also made Anthony seem like a sadist. It lessened the chance that the jury would believe this was a consensual encounter and that Littlejohn supplied her own crack. For these reasons, Anthony’s conviction should be reversed.

2.

The trial judge should have granted a motion for recusal as a sanction in response to judge shopping by the State.

**Relevant Facts**

On August 8, 2007, Assistant Solicitor Ryan Holloway wrote Anthony’s lawyer, Melvin Roberts (“Roberts”) notifying him that Anthony’s trial would be held either the week of October 1, October 15, October 29, or November 26. R. 264. The next day, August 9, 2007, Roberts replied. R. 262-263. Roberts reiterated a prior conversation during which he told the solicitor that he was protected because of another trial for October 1-12, 2007. Roberts also wrote:

The other day, you called and we discussed another possible trial date but you kept skipping over anytime that Judge John C. Hayes, III was not here

because you insisted that you wanted this case tried before Judge John C. Hayes, III and no other judge. When I asked you why your answer was "because." When I further persisted and asked you because of what, you[r] answer was that I was berating you. I still would like to know why you insist that this case can only be tried before Judge John C. Hayes, III of all the other circuit court judges that we have in the State of South Carolina, all of whom are competent judges as far as I am concerned. So is Judge Hayes. I have tried many cases before him and I find him to be a very fair and reasonable judge. I have no problem with Judge Hayes, however when you say that you will only try this case before Judge Hayes, it makes me wonder what do you know that I don't know that would make Judge Hayes more favorable to the State, than any other judge in the State of South Carolina.

R. 262-263. Roberts copied Judge Hayes and the Circuit Solicitor on this letter. R. 263.

Instead of a response from Assistant Solicitor Holloway, the Circuit Solicitor for York County, Kevin S. Brackett ("Brackett") wrote Roberts. R.260-261. Brackett did not refute Roberts' version of the conversation with the assistant solicitor. R.260-261. Brackett told Roberts that he had a "busy schedule" and cited the "complexities of planning and managing a criminal docket." R. 260. Brackett took over the case. He closed his letter saying, "In light of the frustration you expressed over your communications with Mr. Holloway I have instructed him to refer any future questions or problems he may have to me." R. 260-261.

The case was not tried in October or November. On November 21, 2007, the State filed a motion seeking a DNA sample from Anthony. R. 291. The State asked for a hearing on November 29, 2007. R. 291. In response, Roberts filed a motion asking for Judge Hayes to recuse himself and also addressing the DNA issue. R. 257. Referencing his conversations and correspondence with the State in August, Roberts argued that the State was "judge shopping." R. 257. Roberts did not allege any impropriety on the part of Judge

Hayes, but argued that recusal was the appropriate sanction for the State's judge shopping. R. 257-258.

On November 29, 2007, Judge Hayes held a hearing on the recusal and DNA issues. R. 215. At the hearing, Roberts told Judge Hayes he was not alleging improprieties or misconduct on the trial judge's part, but explained that his motion for recusal was based on the State's judge shopping. R. 217, l. 16 – 218, l. 1. Judge Hayes stated he did not recall receiving any of the August correspondence between Roberts and the Solicitor's office, but Roberts handed Brackett's August 14 letter and his own letter up to the court. R. 218, ll. 2 – 21. Judge Hayes then refused to talk about judge shopping and remarked that defense lawyers should not be able to excuse a judge simply by copying the court on a letter. R. 218, l. 23 – 219, l. 13. Without further argument, Judge Hayes said, "But I'm not going to recuse myself. I don't remember anything about this case." R. 219, ll. 14 – 15. Roberts then again proffered his argument that the State had insisted that Judge Hayes was the only judge in the State of South Carolina that could hear this case and that judge shopping warranted recusal. R. 219, ll. 24 – 220, l. 6. At no point in the hearing did the State attempt to refute the allegation of judge shopping.

On December 4, 2007, Judge Hayes entered a written order regarding the DNA issue which also stated, "The Court has, on the record, denied defendant's motion to recuse himself." R. 288. Anthony filed a notice of appeal and on December 27, 2007, the Court of Appeals received his "Memorandum as to Appealability of Intermediate Order in a Criminal Case." R. 278. The Attorney General responded on behalf of the State and asserted that the appeal should be dismissed as interlocutory and not immediately appealable. R. 283. On January 10, 2008, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. R. 255. Subsequent petitions

for rehearing and the petition for certiorari to the Supreme Court were denied, with the Supreme Court's order denying certiorari dated October 8, 2008. R. 294. Almost three and one-half years later, Anthony was tried and convicted before Judge Hayes.

### **Discussion**

Melvin Roberts anticipated by five years the Supreme Court's landmark decision stripping solicitors of their complete control over the docket. State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (2012). In Roberts' argument to the Court of Appeals on appealability, he wrote:

[T]his appeal should be allowed to go forward so that our Appellate Courts can set perimeters on "judge shopping." It may be that the time is right to have a court coordinator (independent of both prosecution and defense) to set cases to be heard before any judge holding court in the circuit and not before a particular judge as requested by either of the parties.

R. 297. While the exact method of calling cases in General Sessions court remains to be determined, the Supreme Court made it clear in Langford that the solicitors' complete control over the docket was at an end. Langford at 436, 735 S.E.2d at 479.

One of the evils of the solicitors' control of the docket discussed in Langford was the exact issue raised by Anthony: judge shopping. Id. at 436-440, 735 S.E.2d at 479-481. It does not appear from the opinion that the Court was faced with the blatant judge shopping that occurred in this case. Id. The Court only states that Langford argued that the solicitors' control over the docket permitted them to select the judge. The Court treats this argument theoretically. Id. Nothing in the Langford case is as egregious as the assistant solicitor's comments to Roberts that no other judge but Judge Hayes would try Anthony. Therefore, the Langford Court required some "actual partiality and prejudice on the part of the judge." Id. at 438, 735 S.E.2d at 480. The Court noted that the "only" support for an allegation of

bias in Langford was that the judge ruled against the defendant on several issues and found this allegation “untenable.” Id. at 438-39, 735 S.E.2d at 480.

Anthony asserts that the Court’s requirement of prejudice in Langford should not apply in this case because of the blatant judge shopping by the State. “Without a doubt, permitting solicitors—who represent a party in the case—to select the judge raises the specter of partiality and calls the validity of the entire system into question.” Id. at 437, 735 S.E.2d at 480. In Langford, the Court faced a theoretical assertion of judge shopping. In this case, the Court is presented with a concrete example of judge shopping. In Harres v. Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d 360 (1984), the defendants’ attorney sought to have his clients sentenced before Judge Timmerman instead of Judge Moss, who counsel referred to as the “hanging judge.” Id. at 132, 318 S.E.2d at 360. When Judge Timmerman unexpectedly sentenced the defendants to prison terms, they sought (and were granted) post-conviction relief from their pleas. Id. The Supreme Court reversed the grant of PCR and chastised the defense attorneys for “judge shopping.” Id. at 133, 318 S.E.2d at 360-61.

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