ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2012-206627

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

HARRY ANTHONY,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 08 / 14

SC Court of Appeals
RECEIVED

JAN 08 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2012-206627

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

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

Furthermore, as in Jackson, Appellant’s conviction is supported by strong evidence. Littlejohn’s testimony provided direct evidence of Appellant’s distribution of crack cocaine in exchange for sexual favors. Additionally, videotapes of those sexual encounters provided direct evidence of these “drugs for sex” exchanges. Because of this evidence, “there is no reason to question the trial judge’s impartiality.” Jackson at 628-29, 578 S.E.2d at 745-46.

III.

Appellant's argument that he is entitled to a judicial determination on whether he should receive credit for time served while on house arrest is not preserved for appellate review.

Appellant argues he is entitled to a judicial determination on whether he should retroactively receive credit for time served while on house arrest. Specifically, he contends that because § 24-13-40 was amended on June 7, 2013, while this direct appeal was pending, to provide that time under house arrest may be used in computing time served, he is entitled to this credit.¹ However, Appellant did not raise this issue at sentencing, and, thus, it is not preserved for appellate review.

“Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review.” In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial court, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). The appellate court will not consider any issues that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial court. State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970). “Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” l’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000).

Because Appellant did not request credit for his time on house arrest at the time he was sentenced, Appellant argues the amendment to § 24-13-40 is retroactive and that he is raising the issue at his first available opportunity. He admits the amendment is not a

¹ Appellant was convicted and sentenced on January 11, 2012, approximately one year and five months before the statute was amended.

new rule of constitutional criminal procedure that would apply to all cases not yet final on direct review under Davis v. United States, 131 S. Ct. 2419 (2011). However, he contends Davis should inform this Court so that he may benefit from a favorable law. Appellant's reliance on Davis as guidance in this situation is misplaced. Davis dealt with a newly announced rule of substantive Fourth Amendment law and specifically looked at whether a remedy was available. Here, there is no constitutional remedy, such as suppression of evidence, that can be sought based on the amendment to the statute. Thus, Davis is inapplicable.

South Carolina case law makes it clear that amendments to statutes are not retroactive unless the Legislature says they are. "Generally, 'statutory enactments are to be considered prospective rather than retroactive in their operation unless there is a specific provision in the enactment or clear legislative intent to the contrary.'" Wiesart v. Stewart, 379 S.C. 300, 303, 665 S.E.2d 187, 188 (Ct. App. 2008). "Statutes that are remedial or procedural in nature, however, operate retroactively. A statute is remedial and applies retroactively when it creates new remedies for existing rights or enlarges rights of persons under disability." Id. In Wiesart, this Court found the 1996 amendment to § 23-3-430 was procedural in nature because it created a requirement that the trial court make a specific finding on the record regarding whether a person convicted of indecent exposure should register as a sex offender, rather than creating a new right. Id.

In Edwards v. State Law Enforcement Div., 395 S.C. 571, 720 S.E.2d 462 (2011), the Supreme Court examined how to determine whether a statutory amendment is to be applied retroactively. "It is a well-settled rule of statutory construction that absent a specific provision or clear legislative intent to the contrary, statutes are to be construed prospectively rather than retroactively, unless the statute is remedial or procedural in

nature.” Id. at 579, 720 S.E.2d at 466. After finding no explicit provision by the General Assembly that the amendment in question was to apply retroactively, the Court turned its focus to whether it was remedial or procedural. In exploring authority on the definition of remedial, the Court cited 82 C.J.S. Statutes § 585 (2009) for the proposition “that where a statute takes away or impairs vested rights acquired under existing laws, creates new obligations, imposes a new duty, or attaches a new disability, it will be construed as prospective only.” Id. at 580, 720 S.E.2d at 466. The Court then noted “a ‘procedural’ law sets out a mode of procedure for a court to follow, or ‘prescribes a method of enforcing rights.’” Id. (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary 1083 (1979)). The Court ultimately determined “[t]he amendments to section 23-3-430 do not provide a procedure for a court to follow, or prescribe a method for enforcing rights. Thus, the amendments are not procedural and cannot be applied retroactively to Respondent’s case.”

In this case at the time of trial, § 24-13-40 provided:

The computation of the time served by prisoners under sentences imposed by the courts of this State must be calculated from the date of the imposition of the sentence. However, when (a) a prisoner shall have given notice of intention to appeal, (b) the commencement of the service of the sentence follows the revocation of probation, or (c) the court shall have designated a specific time for the commencement of the service of the sentence, the computation of the time served must be calculated from the date of the commencement of the service of the sentence. In every case in computing the time served by a prisoner, full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing. Provided, however, that credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given: (1) when the prisoner at the time he was imprisoned prior to trial was an escapee from another penal institution; or (2) when the prisoner is serving a sentence for one offense and is awaiting trial and sentence for a second offense in which case he shall not receive credit for time served prior to trial in a reduction of his sentence for the second offense.

The June 7, 2013 amendment to § 24-13-40 provides: “Any time served under house arrest by a prisoner may be used in computing time served by a prisoner.” Following the Court’s logic in Edwards, finding no explicit provision that the amendment is to apply retroactively, this Court must determine whether it is remedial or procedural. A statute is remedial when it creates new remedies for existing rights or enlarges rights of persons under disability, and is procedural if it sets out a mode of procedure for a court to follow, or ‘prescribes a method of enforcing rights.’ Wiesart, 379 S.C. at 303, 665 S.E.2d at 188; Edwards, 395 S.C. at 580, 720 S.E.2d at 466. Here, the amendment does not create a new remedy for an existing right, nor does it set out a mode of procedure for courts to follow. Rather, by providing that house arrest time may be used to calculate time served, the amendment creates a new obligation or imposes a new duty. Id. In Edwards, the Court found the amendments to the sex offender registry statute to provide that if a sex offender received a pardon for which he was required to register, he must reregister and may not be removed from the registry except in certain enumerated circumstances did “not create a new right, but instead impose[d] an obligation which did not exist prior to the amendments.” Edwards, 395 S.C. at 579, 720 S.E.2d at 466. Similarly, the amendment in this case imposed an obligation by making house arrest part of time-served calculation. Therefore, it should be construed prospectively, not retroactively. Accordingly, the amendment does not apply to Appellant.

Appellant cites State v. Dawson, 402 S.C. 160, 740 S.E.2d 501 (2013), to support his assertion that he is entitled to the benefit of the amendment because it has no savings clause. However, Dawson deals with a defendant who was sentenced under one statute, which was in effect at the time she committed the crime, but argued on appeal that she

should have been sentenced under an act that went into effect prior to her sentencing. The Supreme Court determined Dawson was not entitled to the benefit of the act because it contained a savings clause that specified it did not affect pending actions. Id. at 165, 740 S.E.2d at 503. Appellant argues that because the amendment here does not contain a savings clause, he should benefit from the general rule that “a convicted criminal receive the punishment in effect at the time he is sentenced, unless it is greater than the punishment provided for when the offense was committed.” Appellant appears to equate not receiving credit for time served under house arrest to a greater punishment. However, statutory amendments that lower penalties for certain crimes are distinguishable from this amendment, which simply provides that house arrest may be used to calculate time served. The amendment in question has no bearing on the actual penalty for the crime Appellant committed. Therefore, Dawson does not apply. Dawson can also be distinguished because the act went into effect after the commission of the crime but before the appellant was sentenced, whereas here Appellant was sentenced on January 11, 2012, and the statute was later amended on June 7, 2013.

Even if the Court accepts Appellant’s contention that credits are to be treated the same as penalties, one need only look at the Supreme Court’s decision in State v. Varner, 310 S.C. 264, 423 S.E.2d 133 (1992), to dispense with this argument. There, the Court determined “a criminal defendant receives the benefit of punishment mitigated by legislative amendment only when the amendment becomes effective before sentence is pronounced.” Id. at 265, 423 S.E.2d 134 (emphasis added). The Court did not agree that Varner was “entitled to resentencing because the legislature reduced the punishment applicable to his crime before his appeal was adjudicated.” Id. at 265, 423 S.E.2d 133. The Supreme Court compared Varner’s case to State v. Williams, 31 S.C.L. (2 Rich.) 418

(1846), to emphasize the importance of looking at the time of sentencing to determine whether an amendment would affect the penalty for a crime. Id. at 265-66, 423 S.E.2d 134. Williams took place during a time when convictions were appealed prior to sentencing. Id. at 266, 423 S.E.2d 134. The Varner court based its decision on “the common law rule that courts must impose the penalty in effect at the time of sentencing.” Id.

Appellant argues that all prisoners should be entitled to benefit from this amendment and states, “The Department of Corrections routinely recalculates prisoners’ sentences according to their behavior and earned credits.” (App. Br. 21.) However, Appellant also noted in his brief that the Department of Corrections would not recompute prisoners’ time and would leave that discretion to judges. Requiring every prisoner to appear before a court for a judicial determination of any recalculation of his time would be a strain on the judicial system and would certainly not serve the interests of efficiency and judicial economy. Furthermore, not just any court would be qualified to render a new sentence, particularly because the statutory amendment is written such that a judge may use time under house arrest in computing time served. By making the decision discretionary, it stands to reason the Legislature certainly intended the trial judge to consider all aspects of the case in making his decision. Thus, the only judge who would be able to consider everything would be the original sentencing judge. Although Appellant claims there would not be a strain on judicial resources, his idea is to use form consent orders with no need for a hearing. However, this proposal does not take into consideration the rights of victims. The South Carolina Victims’ Bill of Rights, section 24(A)(5), provides: “To preserve and protect victims’ rights to justice and due process regardless of race, sex, age, religion, or economic status, victims of crime have the right

to: (5) be heard at any proceeding involving a post-arrest release decision, a plea, or sentencing.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 24. See also S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-1550(D) (2003), which provides:

The circuit or family court judge must recognize and protect the rights of victims and witnesses as diligently as those of the defendant. A circuit or family court judge, before proceeding with a trial, plea, sentencing, or other dispositive hearing in a case involving a victim, must ask the prosecuting agency to verify that a reasonable attempt was made to notify the victim sufficiently in advance to attend. If notice was not given in a timely manner, the hearing must be delayed for a reasonable time to allow notice.

Therefore, any form consent order without a hearing would violate those rights.

Appellant also advocates a public policy argument that recalculation of sentences to include time spent under house arrest would serve to address prison overcrowding. Appellant contends that “violent offenders do not receive house arrest” and, thus, the Legislature must have intended to allow for earlier release of non-violent offenders when passing this amendment. Initially, Appellant offers no support for this argument. Also, it is worth noting that people are released on bond for all types of crimes, both violent and non-violent, and most are allowed back into society without being restricted to house arrest while they await trial. Indeed, it would seem more likely that a person accused of a violent crime, rather than a non-violent crime, would receive a restrictive bond that included house arrest.

Despite the existence of an established procedure for addressing credit based issues, Appellant argues the Court should decide this issue now instead of following the procedure set forth in Al-Shabazz v. State, 338 S.C. 354, 527 S.E.2d 742 (1999). Al-Shabazz makes clear that sentence credits-related issues should be addressed through the

prison grievance system and appealed to the Administrative Law Court. There is no way to predict what the Administrative Law Court will do, and there is no reason to circumvent that procedure by addressing this issue as a direct appeal. Going the route of the Administrative Law Court is just one of several ways this issue could be resolved preferable to pursuing a direct appeal as Appellant has. He also could have proceeded with a declaratory judgment. See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-30 (2005) (a party whose rights, status, and other legal relations are affected by a statute may seek a court's determination of any question of construction or validity of the statute and obtain a declaration of the party's rights, status, or other legal relations thereunder). Likewise, he could have filed a writ of habeas corpus if he believes he is entitled to immediate release. Any of these avenues would better address this issue, particularly because it is not appropriate for direct appeal because it was not raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.

In sum, Appellant's argument that he is entitled to a judicial determination regarding whether his sentence should be recalculated to include time under house arrest is not preserved. Additionally, for the foregoing reasons, the argument is without merit.